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MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD CHAIR TO THE MINISTER
The Honourable Naomi Yamamoto
Minister of Advanced Education
Dear Minister Yamamoto:
On behalf of the Board of Directors, management and staff of the
Private Career Training Institutions Agency (the Agency), I am pleased
to submit the Annual Report on the 2011-2012 Service Plan.
Private career training institutions are post-secondary institutions
providing career focused training. Along with a wide variety of
programs available to students, private institutions may offer flexible
learning schedules, small teacher to student ratios, short duration
programs, and multiple intakes during the year.

Accountability Statement
This Annual Report was prepared in
accordance with the Crown
Corporation Annual Report Guidelines,
the Budget Transparency and
Accountability Act, and the BC
Reporting Principles. This report is
consistent with the government’s
strategic priorities.
The Board is accountable for the
contents of this report, including what
has been included in the report and
how it has been reported. The
performance measures presented are
consistent with the Agency’s mandate
and goals and focus on the
organization’s performance.
The Board is confident in the
completeness and accuracy of the
information provided and the
financial and performance based
information.
Richard Novek
Acting Board Chair

The Agency’s mandate is to provide student protection and enforce
basic education and quality standards.
Each year in British Columbia over 51,000 students enrol in regulated
private career training institutions. Over 330 private career training
institutions are registered in British Columbia which, in the fiscal year
2011-2012, cumulatively added $274M to the British Columbia
economy through tuition revenues alone.
Characteristics of career training institutions regulated by the Agency
vary significantly. The three largest institutions represent $81M
cumulatively in tuition revenue. The next largest institution
contributes approximately $18M with the fifth largest at
approximately $9M. From there the institution size decreases steadily
with the 35th largest institution having annual tuition of
approximately $1M.
It was another year of change for the Agency. This year was the first full
year with the new Registrar & CEO who began and continued a program
of change to modernize and improve the Agency’s effectiveness and
transparency. Two significant projects undertaken in the year: a full
process review conducted by Myers Norris Penny; and, a full bylaw
review involving Ministry of Advanced Education staff, institutions, the
Board and staff of the Agency.
The Agency adopted Canadian public sector accounting (“PSA”)
standards as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. This requires that surplus
be separated between those from operations and those from remeasurement gains and losses resulting from investments.
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The Agency ended the year with an operating deficit of $69,729 with $64,936 being attributed to a noncash amortization of a 4-month period of free rent in the new office space. The financial position of the
Agency is nearly the same as the previous year with a total accumulated surplus of $587,876, a reduction
of $64,550 from the previous $652,426. The variances between the budget and the actual were nominal
with total revenue 2.0% less than budget and expenses 2.5% over budget. As in the previous year, the
Agency has no debt. And, although there was a minor decrease in budgeted revenue to the Agency this
year, the market for private career training institutions seems strong and likely to see a moderate increase
over the next ten years as more jobs require vocational training.
The Agency has been successful in achieving its performance objectives. Turnaround times for
complaints processing and issuing of tuition refunds was
reduced and the move towards online reporting and electronic
record-keeping is well underway including online payment
processing. The process review conducted by Myers Norris
Penny identified areas to streamline and enhanced work-flow
Turnaround times for complaints
processes which are now the basis for the design of an
processing and issuing of tuition
Enterprise Resource Planning System.
refunds was significantly reduced
and the move towards online and
A risk factor identified in the Service Plan was exposure to the
electronic record-keeping is well
Student Training Completion Fund from successful complaints
and for closures. The actuarial report undertaken the previous
underway including online
year set a target balance for the Student Training Completion
payment processing.
Fund. In early 2012, BDO conducted a risk review of a sample of
institutions’ ability to cover unearned tuition amounts in the
event of a closure. The results have focused the Agency on
more detailed analysis of the financial viability of institutions.
This year saw the largest single closure of an institution when
the Columbia Academy closed with claims on the fund in excess of $500,000.
By regulating the industry, the quality of education and the image of private training institutions are
enhanced. Regulation will continue to contribute to meeting government’s goal of making British
Columbia the best educated, most literate jurisdiction on the continent and a preferred choice for
international students.
Sincerely,

Richard Novek
Acting Chair
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ORGANIZATIONAL OVERVIEW
Every student attending an educational institution in
British Columbia deserves access to quality
education. Regulation of the private career training
sector in the Province supports British Columbia’s
commitment to quality assurance in post-secondary
education.

MISSION
To support quality education in British Columbia’s
private post-secondary career training sector
through regulating standards and providing
protection to students.
PROMISE

MANDATE
The Private Career Training Institutions Agency (the
“Agency”) was established under the Private Career
Training Institutions Act (PCTI Act) in November
2004, and became a Crown Corporation in July of
2008. Its mandate, as set out in the Act is
-

to establish basic education standards for
registered institutions and to provide consumer
protection to the students and prospective
students of registered institutions;

The Agency’s promise to students and the public is
to set basic quality standards and monitor private
career training institutions for compliance to those
standards; to protect student tuition through a
Student Training Completion Fund; and to provide
services to students and the public to assist in their
ability to make good choices in post-secondary
career training.

-

to establish standards of quality that must be
met by accredited institutions; and

-

to carry out, in the public interest, its powers,
duties and functions under this Act, the
regulation and the bylaws.

The Agency’s promise to the private career training
institutions is to make the process of compliance
straight-forward by leveraging technology; to
protect the overall reputation of the sector by
enforcing compliance to set standards; and to
provide timely and relevant information to
institutions.

Further direction and accountability are provided
through the Government’s Letter of Expectations,
executed jointly by the Chair of the Agency Board
and the Minister of Advanced Education.

The Agency’s promise to the provincial government
is to effectively undertake the execution of its
prescribed mandate to increase the quality of
education in the private career training sector.
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VALUES

Value

Description

Defining Statements

Respect

PCTIA respects all its
stakeholders.




Be inclusive, transparent, honest and respect diversity
Support, guide and collaborate with key stakeholders

Accountability

PCTIA is accountable to its
stakeholders.




Lead by example
Provide timely and transparent reporting to
government, the public and the sector
Provide responsible oversight and a commitment to
student and consumer protection



Adaptability

Quality

PCTIA is an adaptive
organization that celebrates
continuous learning and
change.




PCTIA has quality standards as
it applies to its mandate at the
strategic and operational
levels.









Integrity

PCTIA implements its mandate
with integrity.
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Monitor and adapt to the regulatory environment
Apply new technologies and methods of doing
business
Respond to changing demographics within PCTIA,
students, and institutions.

Protect the public and promote consumer confidence
by applying basic education standards to all BC private
career training institutions
Work to encourage more institutions to attain higher
quality standards than are required
Believe that all students should have access to quality,
relevant education
Apply the principles of quality to its employees, Board
duties, and all operations

Treat students and institutions with fairness, dignity
and respect
Investigate student complaints thoroughly and make
decisions consistent with the principles of
administrative law

CORE BUSINESS AREAS AND SERVICES
CLOSURES
QUALITY EDUCATION STANDARDS
The Agency provides consumer protection to
students and prospective students of registered
private career training institutions in British
Columbia.
It sets basic education standards for registered
institutions, and quality standards for
accredited institutions. Quality standards for
accreditation exceed those required for
registration and are voluntary.
Institutions are consistently monitored for
compliance to these set standards. This includes
financial reporting requirements, onsite visits,
approval of program content and other
reporting set out in the Agency’s Bylaws:
http://www.pctia.bc.ca/bylaws
The Agency has the authority to suspend or
cancel an institution’s registration and/or
accreditation for non-compliance to basic
education and quality standards. The
suspension or cancellation of either registration
or accreditation of an institution is posted on
the Agency’s website for a period of 5 years.
STUDENT PROTECTION - TUITION
INSURANCE
The Student Training Completion Fund (STCF) is
established under the PCTI Act and further
prescribed under the Private Career Training
Institutions Regulation (the Regulation).
Each month, institutions are required to
contribute to the Student Training Completion
Fund (STCF).

Should an institution close or the Agency cancel
its registration prior to completion of the
student’s program, the student may have a
claim on the STCF for repayment of all or a
portion of their tuition.
Whenever possible, the Agency works with
impacted students and other registered
institutions to find opportunities to transfer
these students to another institution for
completion of their program. In these cases, the
STCF payment is directed to the receiving
institution. The student pays no additional
monies even where the new institution has a
higher tuition cost.
COMPLAINTS
A formal complaints process exists for students
who have been misled by a private career
training institution in some aspect of its
operations. The Board is responsible for
consideration of complaints and potential
tuition reimbursement to students.
Where the Board finds a student has been
misled in a material way by the institution, a
payment from the STCF is made to the student
or their delegate. This payment is recovered
from the institution should it still be operating.
KEY PARTNERS AND STAKEHOLDERS
In the Agency’s role as a consumer protection
agency, students and prospective students of
private career training institutions in British
Columbia are its primary stakeholders.
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The Board is accountable to the provincial
government of British Columbia through the
Ministry of Advanced Education.
In addition to students and the public,
stakeholders include the approximately 330
private career training institutions operating in
the Province of British Columbia; the public
post-secondary education sector; the BC
Council on Admissions and Transfer; the
Industry Training Authority; over twenty
regulatory colleges and professional
associations; the Degree Quality Assessment
Board; the British Columbia Council on
International Education; Human Resources and
Skills Development Canada; and Citizenship and
Immigration Canada.

BC seeks to be a destination of choice for
foreign students. The reputation of BC’s
education system as a whole could be tarnished
by instances where a school may unexpectedly
close or not provide the level of education or
consumer protection promised. Having an
efficiently regulated industry and quality
standards protects the public and reduces the
likelihood of this happening.
OFFICE LOCATION
In December of 2011, the Agency moved its
offices from Burnaby to downtown Vancouver
in order to be more accessible to a larger group
of students and the public.
The Agency is located at:

BENEFIT TO THE PUBLIC
By requiring mandatory registration, the Agency
can monitor the quality of education provided
and the financial viability of institutions.
The private career training sector contributes,
on average, $3001 million per year in tuition
revenues in the province of British Columbia. It
provides training and education in many trades
and professions where British Columbia has
identified current and impending skills
shortages. These institutions can offer the
flexibility to adapt to meet emerging training
needs and support BC’s economy by providing
job ready graduates.

1

203-1155 West Pender Street,
Vancouver, BC V6E 2P4
Phone: 604-569-0033
Website: www.pctia.bc.ca
Contact: info@pctia.bc.ca
Office Hours are 8:30 am to 4:30 pm.
One full-time Agency staff member is located in
Victoria.

Based on the past 3 fiscal years
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AT MARCH 31, 2012

Ministry of Advanced
Education

Board of Directors

Registrar and CEO

Legal, Counsel

Chief Financial and
Technology Officer

Accounting Manager

Accounting Clerks (3)

Assistant Registrar

IT Support

Regulatory and
Compliance Officers

Quality Assurance
Manager

Regulatory and
Compliance
Assistants

Receptionist and
Office Manager
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(student complaints
and compliance)

Student Relations
Administraor

Communications
Compliance

HOW WE DO OUR WORK

Province of British Columbia
The Private Career Training Institutions Act
The Private Career Training Institutions Regulation
Government’s Letter of Expectations

The Agency monitors private career training
institutions for compliance to basic education
and quality standards; provides support services
to students; and adjudicates student complaints
against institutions.
Regulatory and Compliance Officers each have a
cohort of institutions, often grouped by
sector/type of programs and geographic
location. They carry out site visits, monitor their
cohort for compliance, and make
recommendations for enforcement actions such
as suspensions and closures. The Assistant
Registrar monitors the quality of work of the
Regulatory and Compliance Officers.

The Board of Directors
The Private Career Training Institutions Bylaws
Strategic Direction
Set Basic Education and Quality Standards
Registrar and Chief Executive Officer
Operational Oversight
2
Activities to support GLE and Strategic Direction
Legislative authority to act
Regulatory and
Compliance


Register and review
new institutions
Monitor institutions
against standards
set in PCTIA Bylaws
Set conditions for
compliance
Make
recommendations
for actions



Subject Matter Experts and Auditors may be
required on contract where the annual audits of
institutions or review of new programs may
require specific expertise. Information about
these experts and auditors is posted publicly on
the Agency’s website:
http://www.pctia.bc.ca/governance/auditteam.

Student
Support









Student Complaint
Process
On-site support for
closures
Student Training
Completion Fund
Train-outs to other
institutions

Legal


It is the Board’s responsibility to adjudicate all
student complaints.




The Quality Assurance Manager monitors the
quality of the processes and systems in place.




The Registrar has legislative authority granted
under the Act to require certain information
from institutions and to impose restrictions to
their activities through suspension or
cancellation. In addition, the Registrar acts as
Chief Executive Officer of the Agency.

Oversee compliance to Crown Corporation
regulatory framework
Review and recommend on interpretation
of PCTIA Bylaws
Review recommendations on actions
against institutions
Review student complaints
Handle Freedom of Information Requests
Administration,
Finance, IT, and Communications





2

Management of fees, payments to fund
Support for IT infrastructure
Communication planning

The Government’s Letter of Expectations
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Agency is governed by a ten-member Board
of Directors (the Board).
COMPOSITION
The Board is composed of ten directors, seven
elected by the voting institutions based on
region, and three appointed by the Minister of
Advanced Education. Board composition is
based on their expertise as well as their stated
interest in and commitment to the work of the
Agency.

An election for four new Board members took
place in March of 2012 and the Ministry of
Advanced Education changed their appointed
representative to the Board. The Board also
amended the bylaws to accommodate elections
being timed to take place at 18 month intervals.
ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board’s role consists of:



The overall Board composition must
appropriately reflect the diversity of the
institutions which the Agency regulates. A skills
matrix will be used to guide the election/
appointment of all Board members.






The Registrar and CEO is an ex officio, nonvoting member of the Board.



OFFICERS
The two officers of the Board are the Chair and
the Vice-Chair. Each Committee elects a
Committee Chair and the Chair of the Finance
Committee acts as Treasurer.

Appointing the Registrar and establishing
the functions and duties of the Registrar;
Governing the affairs of the Agency in
accordance with the Act, the Regulation
and the Bylaws;
Establishing and maintaining Bylaws in
accordance with the Act;
Setting strategic direction for Agency;
Being accountable for defined
performance results;
Ensuring effective use of Agency’s
resources; and
Reporting to government, shareholders
and the public at large.

The Board has four standing committees. They
include the Student Complaint Committee; the
Planning and Review Committee; the Bylaw,
Policy and Quality Assurance Committee; and,
the Finance and Student Training Completion
Fund Committee. The Nominating Committee is
struck in election years.

TERMS OF OFFICE
With the exception of the March 2012 elected
terms, which terms are for two years, elected
Directors serve 3-year terms, once renewable.
Directors appointed by the Ministry of
Advanced Education serve an open-ended term.

The Board adheres to the standards of conduct,
which are published on the Agency’s website
(http://www.pctia.bc.ca/governance/board-ofdirectors ) when exercising its powers and
performing the functions of the organization.
More information with respect to the Board’s
composition, terms of office, nominations
process, election process, meetings, and conflict
of interest guidelines can be found in the
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Agency’s bylaws, which are available at
http://pctia.bc.ca/bylaws or questions can be
directed to info@pctia.bc.ca.
CORE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
The Board’s role and functioning will be guided
by a set of core governance principles:
 To govern lawfully and within the
organization’s authority under the PCTI Act,
regulation and bylaws.
 In exercising its authority, to embrace what
is best for the organization and its consumer
protection mandate.
 To function at the strategic level with an
emphasis on outward vision and strategic
leadership, and on proactive rather than
reactive approaches.
 In fulfilling its risk management and
monitoring roles, to ensure it keeps itself
fully informed and it appropriately balances
the management and mitigation of risks. 

AUTHORITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY
The Board is accountable to the provincial
government of British Columbia to carry out the
mandate set in the PCTI Act. It is responsible for
the stewardship of the Agency, for setting its
strategic direction within the framework of the
legislated mandate, for establishing strategic
priorities and for approving, upholding and
supporting the Mission and Core Organizational
Values of the organization.
The Board frames policies and functions in
accordance with the PCTI Act, regulation and
bylaws. In the case of a conflict between these
Terms of Reference and the Agency’s bylaws,
the bylaws will prevail.
The Board has the authority to set the basic
education standards and quality standards
through its bylaws.

 To assume responsibility for excellence in its
own governance practices with a
commitment to continuous quality
improvement and to ongoing Board
development and Board member education.

The Board has adopted a policy governance
model in which the Board governs through
policies and committees, delegating the
management of the organization to the
Registrar and CEO. It provides oversight to the
management of the organization, ensuring that
the Registrar and CEO has the resources,
policies and support he/she needs to function
effectively. It ensures the annual evaluation of
the competence, integrity and performance of
the Registrar and CEO, delegating this
evaluation to the Planning and Review
Committee.

 To inspire the organization through careful
establishment of broad policies reflecting
the Board’s values and perspectives. 

Individual Board members are expected to act
honestly, in good faith and in the best interests
of the organization at all times.

 To cultivate a sense of group responsibility
and shared ownership of decisions and be
driven by collective rather than individual
decisions.
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KEY RESPONSIBILITIES
Legal and Fiduciary: The Board’s primary role is
its legal and fiduciary responsibility for the
Agency. The Board ensures the organization
operates within the scope of its governing
frameworks including the Private Career
Training Institutions Act, its regulation and
bylaws, policies and Board and committee
terms of reference and that it serves the needs
of consumer protection. The Board has a
responsibility to conduct itself in an ethical and
legal manner through appropriate disclosure
practices and internal controls.
Financial Management: The Board approves
the annual operating budget for the Agency and
the STCF and any subsequent revisions,
approves the annual audited statement,
approves the Investment Policy Statement, and
reviews the monthly financial reporting of the
Agency and the STCF.
Risk Identification and Management: The
Board is responsible to be knowledgeable about
the risks inherent in the Agency’s operations
and for ensuring adequate provisions are in
place to protect the Agency as well as to protect
the Board and employees from potential
liabilities and risks. The Board ensures an
appropriate Conflict of Interest Policy is

in place for Board members, employees and
others who work with the Board.
Registrar and CEO Recruitment, Performance
Management, Evaluation and Succession
planning: The Board oversees the hiring of the
Registrar/CEO, provides strategic direction,
establishes the Registrar/CEO’s limits of
authority, evaluates his/her performance on an
annual basis, determines compensation and
benefits within guidelines and ensures
appropriate Registrar/CEO succession planning.
Strategic Planning: Within the framework of
the mandate directed under the PCTI Act, and
the Government’s Letter of Expectations
provided to the Board, it determines strategic
priorities for the organization and sets the
overall strategic direction.
Governance Development: The Board is
responsible to ensure its collective membership
has the skills and knowledge needed for the
Agency to meet its long-term goals and to
monitor this annually. It is responsible to ensure
ongoing education of Board members, identify
directors for leadership positions, and to
develop an appropriate succession plan for the
Chair and Registrar/CEO.
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BOARD MEMBERS AND COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 2011-2012

NAME

BOARD POSITIONS AND COMMITTEE

TERMS

Kelly Rainsforth
Director of Human Resources &
Educational Administration
Vancouver Film Institution





Chair
Bylaw Review Committee
Planning and Review

Elected First Term
April 1, 2009 – March 31, 2012

Richard Novek
Director of Operations, Greystone College
of Business & Technology, and
International Language Institutions of
Canada




Elected First Term
April 1, 2009 – March 31, 2012

Appointed by Ministerial Order – MO- 115
Second Term
June 1, 2011 - May 30, 2013
Elected First Term
Oct 1, 2009 – Sept 30, 2012



Vice Chair
Chair, Finance and STCF
Committee
Chair, Student Complaints
Committee
Planning and Review

Dee Dhaliwal
Student Representative



Bylaw Review Committee

Mike Hansen
General Manager
Interior Heavy Equipment Operator School
Ltd
Gordon Lee
Vice President Finance & Administration
Kwantlen Polytechnic University




Finance Committee
Student Complaints Committee




Finance Committee
Planning and Review

Appointed by Ministerial Order MO-107
First Term
May 1, 2009 - April 30, 2012

Lois McNestry
President
Discovery Community College
Bev Reid
President
MTI Community College
Kevin Williams
Partner/Director of Education
Nimbus Institution of Recording
Dr. Mark Zacharias
Assistant Deputy Minister
Ministry of Advanced Education
Dr. Ian Rongve
Assistant Deputy Minister
Ministry of Advanced Education




Student Complaints Committee
Finance Committee

Elected Second Term
Oct 1, 2009 – Sept 30, 2012



Bylaw Review Committee

Elected First Term
Oct 1, 2009 – Sept 30, 2012




Bylaw Review Committee
Student Complaints Committee

Elected First Term
April 1, 2009 in March 31, 2012
(previously an appointed member)
Appointed by the Minister on June 2, 2012.
th
Ended term on March 25 , 2012



th

Appointed by the Minister on March 26 , 2012
with no expiry date

MEMBERSHIP BY COMMITTEE – 2011-2012

BYLAW REVIEW

FINANCE AND STCF

NOMINATING

PLANNING AND
REVIEW

STUDENT
COMPLAINTS

Purpose:
To lead the
2011/2012 bylaw
review process and
make final
recommendations to
the board for
adoption.

Purpose:
To provide oversight
of the Agency’s
financial reporting
and management of
the Student Training
Completion Fund. To
approve payments
out of the STCF.

Purpose:
To develop a skills
and competency
framework for
board elections
and propose a
short list, if
required.

Purpose:
To provide interim
feedback and
discussion with
CEO/Registrar
between meetings.
To review and
recommend on CEO
performance.

Purpose:
To review and
adjudicate complaints
filed by students and
to make decisions
based on the
information
presented. To discuss
findings with the full
Board.

Bev Reid, Co-Chair

Richard Novek , Chair

Bev Reid, Chair

Kelly Rainsforth, Chair

Richard Novek, Chair

Kevin Williams, CoChair

Gordon Lee

Mike Hansen

Richard Novak

Mike Hansen

Dee Dhaliwal

Mike Hansen

Lois McNestry

Gordon Lee

Lois McNestry

Kelly Rainsforth

Lois McNestry

Karin Kirkpatrick,
Registrar/CEO

Karin Kirkpatrick,
Registrar/CEO

Kevin Williams

Senior Management Team
Karin Kirkpatrick, MBA, CMA

Registrar & CEO

Monica Lust, BA

Assistant Registrar

Luce Lafontaine, LL.B.

Legal Counsel

Lyndon Scott, CA

Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE
SETTING BENCHMARKS
The Agency is unique in Canada. British Columbia is the only province to have private career training
institutions regulated by an Agency outside of provincial government. In other Canadian provinces, the
regulation and oversight of private career training and vocational training is a function of the Ministry
responsible for higher education or labour market. Regulation and requirements vary by province.
The regulation of private post-secondary institutions is prevalent in many parts of the world. The U.S.,
Australia and New Zealand have had regulatory requirements in place for private post-secondary
education for a number of years. Europe and emerging economies, such as India, are developing
regulatory frameworks.
Senior staff of the Agency participate in an informal group, the Regulators of Career Colleges, which
includes regulators from other Canadian provinces and territories. This group identifies trends,
concerns, and varying approaches to enforcement.
Determining metrics which are indicators of quality in education remains a complex task due to the
diversity of institutions, careers, modes of delivery, and geography. Benchmarks were set based,
partially, on historical information tracked by the Agency, and partially through the goals set out by the
Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations.
The metrics used in the Agency’s report on performance were developed as the most probable
indicators to demonstrate the level of success in fulfilling each of the three goals set for the 2011-2012
Service Plan. They are specific to the Agency as a crown corporation. As the reporting structure of other
Canadian regulators is distinctly different, process and goals for other regulators in Canada are also
different. Comparable statistics were unavailable.
Goals:
1) Optimizing consumer protection for students
2) Enforcing basic education and quality standards
3) Increasing awareness, effectiveness and transparency
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GOAL 1: OPTIMIZING CONSUMER PROTECTION FOR STUDENTS
The Agency is dedicated to creating a regulatory environment which, in the public interest, protects
students and empowers them with information to make informed decisions on their career training
options. The introduction of a formalized student complaint mechanism which is both fair and balanced
to students and institutions provides an opportunity for the Agency to review aspects of institutional
performance outside of regularly scheduled site visits. Administration of the Student Training
Completion Fund (STCF) includes enforcement of the required contributions from institutions, as well as
timely reimbursement of tuition for students affected by the closure of an institution or who may have
been misled by the actions of an institution. Finally, publication of institution-specific information on
the Agency’s website allows the Agency to increase its capacity to provide students with accurate
information relevant to their needs and expectations, and enhance regulator visibility and value.
STRATEGIES TO ACHIEVE THE GOAL
1.

Improve and consolidate the student complaints process

2. Maintain effective enforcement of Student Training Completion Fund (STCF) contributions made by
institutions and provide timely response on claims made to the STCF
3. Identify suitable performance measurement measures for future posting on the Agency’s website

Measures

Actual 2010-2011

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

Average turnaround time for
processing a student complaint
and issuing a decision

Average 23 weeks

10 – 12 weeks

Average 12 weeks

In the first quarter of the 2011 calendar year, the investigations of student complaints were outsourced to the
previous Registrar. In April of 2011, in-house legal counsel was hired and took over the preparation and
investigation of complaints. At the same time, the process was streamlined and the frequency of Student
Complaints Committee Meetings was increased.
In April of 2011, the role of Student Relations Administrator was added. This position is dedicated to working with
students impacted by closures and complaints. Students are encouraged to meet with the Student Relations
Administrator where the processes of complaints and/or claims on the funds are explained and assistance
provided. The number of complaints submitted which now include all required materials has increased, allowing
the investigation to progress more quickly.
The filing of a complaint by a student against their institution indicates an immediate and time-sensitive issue. It
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Measures

Actual 2010-2011

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

may impact the student adversely should they have to wait an extended time for a resolution. Institutions which
are the subject of a complaint will benefit from a timely resolution.
The determination of the target was based on the internal process required for approval. There are a series of
steps which cannot be controlled by the Agency. These are the 30 day periods granted for an institution to respond
to the complaint, and the additional 30 day period for a student to comment on the response from the institution.
The information is then reviewed for completeness and accuracy. The complaint goes first to the Student
Complaint Committee for a thorough review. Depending on timing, this may be immediately after receipt of all
information, or up to three weeks until the next meeting. The full board makes the final determination on the
complaint. These meetings occur every two months. More frequent meetings may be scheduled if a complaint(s)
has been impacted by delays due to meeting dates. The target is set by allowing 8 weeks for the institution and
student responses followed by the timely scheduling of both a Student Complaints Committee Meeting and a
Board meeting.
Decreasing times to move the complaints from the time they are filed to the time of the determination is an
important indicator the Agency is approaching this process with a student centered approach.

Average turnaround time for
issuing a tuition refund in the
case of institutional closure

10 – 12 weeks

10 - 12 weeks

Average 8 weeks

The Agency reduced one of the steps required for processing of payments. Agency staff is onsite, wherever
possible, for closures and attempt to get all required information from students upfront.
The Board passed a motion allowing an advance payment, calculated as 20% of the anticipated tuition to be paid
3
to a receiving institution , to be processed immediately after the next Board meeting. This allows the receiving
institution to receive funds in a timely manner. Previously, payments would be made on a student by student basis
which might require approvals over several board meetings.
More frequent meetings may be scheduled if a refund has been impacted by delays due to meeting dates.
The target was set by using the average processing times for verification of the claim, and the timely scheduling of
meetings for approvals. The timing of the claim is calculated from the time the student signs and submits
necessary papers.
The reduced processing times are in light of an increase in closures in 2011/2012. In 2010/2011 there were 37
institution closures while in 2011/2012 there were 47. Processing times are also impacted by the size of the
institution and the amount of information the Agency has available to verify amounts owing.

3

An institution agreeing to finish the training of a student impacted by a closure
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Measures

Actual 2010-2011

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

Decreasing times to issue tuition refunds is an indicator the Agency is approaching this process in a more
streamlined manner and conducting investigations more expeditiously. Where an institution closes and a student
is entitled to a refund of tuition, any delay may add additional difficulty for the student. Additionally, institutions
receiving students from closures may bear the expense of additional staff, materials or facilities to accommodate
training these students.
Variance between actual and
anticipated STCF payments.

$65,031 net gain in STCF
contributions

$45,000 net gain in
contributions

$49,296 net gain in
contributions

The Agency collected $78,289 of underpayments and refunded $28,993 of overpayments in 2011-2012.
The introduction of the requirement for institutions to provide a Review Engagement has enabled more accurate
tuition verification.
A decrease in the variance is an indication that institutions are providing more accurate monthly reporting and the
Agency’s ability to monitor this monthly is becoming more effective.
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GOAL 2: ENFORCING BASIC EDUCATION AND QUALITY STANDARDS
Enforcement of educational quality is paramount to the Agency’s role as both a regulator and provider
of consumer protection. The Agency believes in going many steps beyond simple enforcement and is
committed to responding in a manner which encourages and helps institutions to operate within the
parameters of the educational quality system for both registered and accredited institutions. The
Agency will strive to provide practical information, samples, services and feedback which are both
valuable and desired by the private training sector. By doing so, the Agency will help enable the sector
to advance toward standards of excellence which are recognized and trusted by students, governments,
the public sector, and employers.
STRATEGIES TO ACHIEVE THE GOAL
1. Maintain, develop, and deliver online and face-to-face professional development opportunities for
institutions
2. Conduct regular site visits to ensure that basic education standards and quality standards are fully
met by registered and accredited institutions
3. Refocus the accreditation review process by placing more emphasis on key performance indicators
and targets.
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Measures

Actual 2010-2011

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

21

65

80

An Institution Officer

67

80

105

An Accreditation Audit Team
(5 year reviews)

29

20

33

96

100

156

Number of onsite visits for
registered institutions
conducted by an Institution
Officer

Number of institution on site
visits for accredited
institutions conducted by:
4

More institutions applied for accreditation status in 2011-2012 than had been anticipated in the Service Plan. This
resulted in more visits by accreditation audit teams. Additionally, the Agency conducted more visits of branch
locations of institutions to confirm quality consistency between the main campus and branch campuses.
An increase in visits by a Regulatory and Compliance Officer demonstrates a greater ability to monitor for
compliance with the Agency’s bylaws. Onsite visits are used to verify what an institution is reporting to the Agency.
Student discussions/interviews occur at the time of the visit. Visits are most often where issues of non-compliance
are determined.
An increase in accreditation audit reviews demonstrates a greater ability to monitor for compliance with the
quality standards in the Agency’s bylaws. It also demonstrates more institutions either renewing accreditation
status or applying for accreditation status.
The target numbers were based on the number of institutions requiring annual visits, the number of Regulatory
and Compliance Officers available to undertake the visits, and the expected number of accreditation audits to be
undertaken.
In 2011-2012, both targets were surpassed. There was a reorganization of cohorts assigned to the Regulatory and
Compliance Officers to create more geographically situated institutions which allowed for additional site visits.
Additionally, the number of institutions applying for accreditation was higher than anticipated.

4

105 main institution locations were visited compared to the target of 80 main institution locations. In addition, 18 branch
locations were visited brining the full number of visits to 123. Branch visits were not previously counted.
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Measures

Rate of compliance within the
educational quality system for
registered and accredited
institutions

Actual 2010-2011

62% from scheduled
annual visits
97% from accreditation
audits

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

75%

An average of 4 areas of
non-compliance was
identified per site visit of
an accredited institution;
while an average of 6
areas of non-compliance
was identified per site
visit of a registered
institution. These areas
of non-compliance
resulted in conditions set
to address those areas.

90%

5

Institutions are becoming familiar with the requirements of the basic education and quality standards introduced
in 2009. This, combined with the provision of workshops and other training materials provided by the Agency, is
resulting in a better understanding of what the institution has to do in order to comply.
The Agency determined the percentage measure of compliance was not an accurate reflection of quality.
Institutions will frequently have a number of outstanding conditions, which are often due dates, related to regular
reporting requirements. These conditions are not an indicator of an issue of non-compliance. However, the
number of conditions resulting from a site visit are directly related to an area of non-compliance with the bylaws.
The reduction in the number of conditions resulting from a site visit is an indicator of increased compliance and
quality in the sector, and the value of the frequent workshops and learning sessions undertaken by the Agency.
Although the way in which the Agency is measuring compliance has changed, the number of outstanding
conditions per site visit is trending down as institutions become more familiar with the bylaw requirements and as
staff work on providing education through workshops and the website.

5

The Agency now tracks rate of compliance based on average number of conditions set for non-compliance with the bylaws
which result directly from a site visit. The previous measure was a percentage of conditions set out of possible conditions which
could result from the bylaws. This would take into account many of the minor administrative conditions which were not felt to
be significant indicators of quality.
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GOAL 3: INCREASING AWARENESS, EFFECTIVENESS AND TRANSPARENCY
The Agency values its stakeholders (including students, institutions, the government, and the public
education system) and strives to support quality and compliance in the private career training sector.
Those who do business with the Agency must trust that it operates with due concern for efficiency and
accountability.
For the public to access the protection of the Agency, and for it to be a valuable tool for government and
the sector to build quality, it must be visible and understood.
STRATEGIES TO ACHIEVE THE GOAL
1. Engage in community outreach activities and provide province wide services to all of the Agency’s
clients.
2. Review procedures, forms and documents with a goal of balancing quality of information with ease
of use, and increase the use of technology within the Agency’s services, and
3. Monitor ongoing implementation of a funding model which is fair to institutions of all sizes and
ensures resources are focused where they are needed most.
Measure

Actual 2010-2011

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

Client satisfaction rate with
the Agency’s communications
and outreach activities

N/A

TBD once baseline
established

Average hits per day on
website = 238
7,000 visitors per month
with 56% being unique
The list of institutions
search was the most
viewed page
240 Twitter Followers

In 2011/2012, a new website with more clear information for both students and institutions and an increased
ability to search institutions, their programs, and their compliance status, was launched. The Agency undertook
initiatives to advertise in student specific publications, participate in career fairs, send e-newsletters to all
institutions at 6 week intervals, use social media, and introduced a series of ‘breakfast briefings’, throughout the
province, meant to provide information to institutions on various requirements.
In addition to tracking traffic on social media and the website, the Agency has installed a phone system for tracking
incoming calls. Non-formal feedback has been received from a number of institutions expressing higher
satisfaction with the Agency due to these communications initiatives.
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Measure

Actual 2010-2011

Target 2011-2012

Actual 2011-2012

The expectation is that, if communications initiatives are successful in raising awareness, the number of enquiries
to the Agency will increase. This will be tracked for future years.

Ability of the Agency to
operate effectively within the
income and expenditures of its
budget

The Agency’s
operations had a
surplus of $331,784.77

Budget to zero

($69,729) excess of
expenses over revenues
for the year

The Agency saw a decrease of $54,048 in expected revenue from budget. Budgeted revenue was $2,714,000 with
actual revenue of $2,658,952. The Agency ended the year with an operating deficit of $69,729 with $64,936 being
attributed to a non-cash amortization of a 4 month period of free rent in new office space. The financial position of
the Agency is nearly the same as the previous year with a total accumulated surplus of $587,876, a reduction of
$64,550 from the previous $652,426. The variances between the budget and the actual were nominal with total
revenue 2.0% less than budget and expenses 2.5% over budget. As in the previous year, the Agency has no debt.
The Agency moved into new office space in December of 2011 and received a period of free rent for the months
December 2011, January, February, and March 2012. The Agency continued to pay rent in its original location
during those 4 months. The Agency is required to record this free rent period as a deferred lease inducement, a
non-cash item, amortized over the term of the lease. It therefore shows as an expense on the Statement of
Operations of ($64,936).
The reduction in revenue may be attributable, in part, to an increased number of institution closures. In 2010/2011
there were 37 institution closures while in 2011/2012 there were 47.
Notwithstanding the amortization of rent, expenses were ($4,793) over revenues.
The 2011-2012 budget did not anticipate the costs of conducting a series of roundtables to engage institutions in
the bylaw review process nor did it anticipate increased legal expenses related to the bylaw review process.
The ability for the Agency to operate effectively within its current funding model is an indicator of whether there is
sound management and oversight, an appropriate funding model, and a scope of the activities which is realistic
within its financial constraints. The Agency undertook a number of initiatives this past year which were determined
to be important and within the obligation of its mandate but not anticipated in the budget.

Page 25 of 77

ECONOMIC AND INDUSTRY FACTORS
Private career institutions are made up of number of business models: incorporated businesses, sole
proprietorships, and registered partnerships. Across Canada, more than 125,000 full and part-time
students attend these institutions. They may pay fees that are, for some programs, considerably higher
than the annual tuition at most community colleges or universities6.
Private career training institutions are unique to other post-secondary institutions. In almost all
jurisdictions in Canada, they are subject to detailed regulation established by each province and
territory. They also receive no direct funding from provincial governments, although their students may
be eligible for student loans from the same government agencies that loan money to university and
community college students.
The two main factors impacting student enrolment in private post-secondary education are labour
market supply and demand, and socio-economic and financial effects on enrolment7. In 2011-2012,
demand of jobs requiring vocational training in BC remained constant.
From the 2011 BC Labour Market Census, the period of 2010 to 2020 should see:






Tight labour market conditions are expected for B.C. in the second half of the outlook period,
starting in 2016. The tight conditions are expected to intensify towards 2020.
Labour market prospects in the Lower Mainland/Southwest, Thompson-Okanagan and Kootenay
regions are expected to be similar to the labour market prospect for the province overall.
The supply of workers in the Vancouver Island/Coast, Cariboo, North Coast and Nechako, and
Northeast regions is expected to fall below demand in the first half of the outlook period
(around 2012 to 2015) and in 2020.
Over the whole outlook period, the demand for workers is expected to outgrow the available
supply by 61,500 workers. In other words, from 2010 to 2020, there will be more jobs than
workers.

Notwithstanding jobs available outstripping workers available, BC Stats most current numbers indicate
78% of the jobs created over the next 10 years will require training and/or post-secondary education.
Private Career Training Institutions are projected to see the market for career programs moderately but
steadily increasing.

6

CD Howe Institute Commentary, ISSN082 4 - 8001, Selling Post Secondary Education: the Role of Private
Vocational and Career Colleges, Oct 2005
7
Canadian Council on Learning Market Scan (2005) What Factors Account for Increases and Decreases in Student
Enrolment at Post-Secondary Institutions?
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The new BC Jobs Plan - http://goo.gl/EVJK1 introduced by the government in October 2011, has
committed to ensuring BC’s skills and training programs lead the way to the jobs of tomorrow. The plan
commits to “help support our (BC’s) educational institutions deliver high quality education for BC
students”.
The Plan sets an aggressive target to increase the international student presence by 50% over the next
four years. Approximately 20% of the students registered in private career training institutions in BC are
on international student visas8. The BC Jobs Plan is expected to have a positive impact on the private
career training sector.
The Province is proposing extending the use of Personal Education Numbers
http://www.bced.gov.bc.ca/pen/ from public institutions to the private career training institutions. The
ability to attach the Personal Education Number to private institution students will allow more
alignment between the private and the public education sector. It will provide meaningful information
on the importance of private career training in the post-secondary education system and will track the
success of students pursuing career training.

8

Dr. Roslyn Kunin. “The Economics of Private Education and Workforce Development in BC” presented October 2011

BCCCA Conference
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RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
This section speaks to the key responses from the Agency over the fiscal year to mitigate potential risk
or maximize opportunity.

Source of Potential Risk
or
Opportunity

Introduction of the student
complaint process

Risk/ Opportunity

Time intensive for staff and not
enough resources internally.
Risk to the Student Training
Completion Fund

Key Responses

The Agency hired both in-house legal
counsel and created a dedicated student
support role in the Student Relations
Administrator.
The website was completely redesigned to
provide more clear information on how
complaints work and the steps a student
will go through.

Selection of published criteria
to focus on outcome-based
assessment

Information provided by
institutions is self-reported and
the system for collecting accurate
information varies between
institutions.

Accredited institutions must collect
outcome data, as determined by the
Registrar, relevant to the achievement of
each program’s goal(s) and objectives.
This data includes but is not limited to:







Student attrition rates;
Student graduation rates;
Third-party professional/licensing
examination results and industry or
employer feedback (where available);
Current or graduate student
satisfaction surveys; and
Graduate employment outcomes.

This information is reported out annually
in the Agency’s Annual Enrolment Report.
Supporting the Education
Quality Assurance (EQA)
initiative

The difference between PCTIA
and EQA, the two quality
measures, as both are
administered by separate
entities.

Set up a database bridge to allow
information on institution status in the
Agency database to transfer to the EQA
database.
Set up automatic notifications to EQA staff
on status changes for institutions.
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Increasing expectations of
paper-reduced, electronic and
web-based services from our
stakeholders

A future risk which has been
identified over the past year is
the lack of clarity around the
regulation of online learning.

Cost to move to electronic data
storage may be prohibitive.
Ability to migrate reporting
online may require
implementation of new ERP
system prior to moving online.

A full process review was carried out by
Myers Norris Penny to identify workflows
to be, ultimately, transferred to an online
ERP system. This resulted in reduction of
processes which were implemented
immediately and a specification document
for the ERP project.

Institutions may not be able to
provide information
electronically.

A PayPal option was set up for institutions
who wished to pay by that method for
monthly fees online.

Other stakeholders such as SABC
use different technology.

A commitment was made by the Agency
to move to full electronic filing and online
payment processing by the end of 20122013. The plan was developed and work
began towards this in 2011-2012.

Fully online institutions may be
offering career training to
students in British Columbia. The
question of jurisdiction comes
into play.

Agency staff will continue to review
legislation in other jurisdictions related to
the regulation of online learning.

ACTUARIAL REPORT – STUDENT TRAINING
COMPLETION FUND (STCF)
The Student Training Completion Fund took the
place of institutions posting financial security in
the form of cash, letter of credit, or surety
bond. The purpose of the fund is to provide
insurance for students in the event of a school
closure where tuition is at risk or in the event of
a successful student complaint where a refund
to the student is warranted. The objective of
the STCF Fund is to underwrite authorized
claims against the Fund where the institution
does not have sufficient assets available to
cover claims.
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Payouts for student complaint refunds are billed
back to the involved institution but seldom
recovered in the case of a school closure.
All registered and accredited institutions make
contributions to the fund, based on their tuition
collected.
In August of 2010, Hewitt produced an actuarial
review of the Student Training Completion
Fund. The risk of institution closure is impacted
by several factors including, but not limited to,
the following: the state of the overall economy
which affects student enrolment, competition
from the publicly funded education sector, and
the institution's own abilities to manage their
financial affairs. The purpose of the review was
to help the Agency's Board of Directors
determine the future target value of the fund.

At the end of the fiscal 2009 year, the fund was
$8.7 million. It grew to $10.4 million by the end
of the 2010 fiscal year and to $11,584,566 by
the end of the 2011/2012 fiscal year.
Characteristics of the institutions regulated by
the Agency vary significantly. In the year ended
March 31, 2012 the total tuition for the largest
three institutions was $81,129,273, averaging
$27,043,091 per institution. From there the
institution size decreases steadily with the 43rd
largest institution having annual tuition of
approximately $1 million. Approximately 30%
of all institutions regulated are reporting annual
tuition of $50,000 or less.
The actual reported province wide tuition for all
registered institution in the 12 months ended
March 31, 2012, was $274,203,243. After
reviewing historical data, and characteristics of
the institutions and the industry, Hewitt came
up with the calculation for the target
contingency reserve level.
Hewitt’s recommendation was to have the
target value of the fund set at the average of 5%
of the annual total tuition plus one half of the
average tuition of the top three institutions.
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Based on the recommended formula, the target
contingency reserve level at March 31, 2012
would have been $13,615,854. The fund
balance at that date was $12,505,921, or
$1,109,933 below the target level set out by the
formula.
The Board will continue to monitor the fund
balance against this target.
The Board has adopted an investment policy
which sets the STCF Funds investment approach
as a well-diversified mid-range risk portfolio.
The financial portfolio of the STCF Fund is to
achieve a total rate of return commensurate
with a blend of returns available from carefully
managed quality balanced funds.
There must be sufficient liquidity in assets held
to meet periodic redemption requirements.
Redemption requirements will be reviewed
quarterly and any adjustments to the asset
allocations will be made at that time.
Redemption requirements may change and may
need to be reviewed more frequently should an
institution(s) close and a larger than average
claim be anticipated against the Fund.

SHAREHOLDER’S LETTER OF EXPECTATIONS
When the Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations was provided to the Agency for the 2011-2012 year, the
extent of the bylaw review for that same year was not anticipated. A bylaw review took place over the
course of the year which included Ministry staff, institutions, the Board and the staff of the Agency. The
review was complete on March 29th, 2012 and will, in some ways, change the way in which results will
be measured. These changes will impact the progress reported on these expectations.
The following information sets out the commitments made by the Board to the Ministry for the fiscal
year 2011-2012.

Action

Progress
th

Continue to move to a results-based accreditation
process that holds institutions accountable for the
extent to which students achieve stated program
outcomes.

In the bylaw revisions adopted March 30 , 2012, the
original Outcomes Based Measures were replaced with
a Continuous Improvement Framework. Accredited
institutions must demonstrate they use the following
data to consistently inform changes and improvements
to their programs. This must be done in consultation
with the Professional Advisory Committee.







Student attrition rates;
Student graduation rates;
Third-party professional/licensing examination
results and industry or employer feedback (where
available);
Current or graduate student satisfaction surveys;
and
Graduate employment outcomes.
st

This section comes into effect on October 1 , 2012.
Ensure that student complaints are handled in the most
expeditious manner possible.

In 2011-2012, the time required to process and
adjudicate student complaints moved from 23 weeks (in
2010-2011) to 12 weeks. This was due primarily to three
things: the hiring on in-house legal counsel to prepare
and investigate claims, the appointment of a dedicated
Student Relations Administrator, and the streamlining
of the process.

Ensure consistent enrolment reporting information is
provided to the Minister at set times each year (draft
information provided by January 31 of each year, final
report in June).

This information was reported to the Ministry in
January of 2012. The Enrolment Report for 2010-2011
will be completed by the due date in June 2012.
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Action

Progress

Make any changes that may result from the Ministry
review of the Corporation’s Bylaws.

Two changes to the Agency’s bylaws were approved
outside of the bylaw review process. These were the
ability for institutions to provide electronic student files
rather than hard-copy files, and the change of one
9
board term to match what was originally contemplated
in the original bylaws.
th

The bylaws approved on March 30 , 2012 will not come
st
into effect until October 1 , 2012.

Comply with Government’s requirements to be carbon
neutral under the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets
Act, including: accurately defining, measuring, reporting
on and verifying the greenhouse gas emissions from the
Corporation’s operations; implementing aggressive
measures to reduce those emissions and reporting on
these reduction measures and reduction plans; and
offsetting any remaining emissions through investments
in the Pacific Carbon Trust, which will invest in
greenhouse gas reduction projects outside of the
Corporation’s scope of operations.

The Agency convened an internal staff Green Team to
review and recommend how to change processes to
support meeting the reduction targets. The Agency has
made a commitment to paperless filing and reporting
by 2013 and has already moved some processes online.
Since December of 2011, the Agency has moved to fully
electronic letterhead and digital signatures.
A transit pass subsidy was introduced.
Video and webinar ability was added to allow less travel
to required workshops and training sessions.
The Agency continues to source sustainable office
supplies such as recycled paper.

9

A discrepancy between the dates for current board member appointments and the dates contemplated in the bylaws was
adjusted. The March 2012 election of 4 board members allowed for a two year term rather than a three year term. This
allowed for board elections to take place at intervals of 18 months.
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report is consistent with that in the financial
statements in all material respects.

FINANCIAL REPORT
The following sections contain financial
information on the operations of both the
Agency and the Student Training Completion
Fund.
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS
Management's discussion and analysis is
current to March 31, 2012 and is management's
assessment of the operations on the financial
results together with future prospects for the
Agency. This MD&A should be read in
conjunction with the Agency's audited financial
statements and related notes for the year
ended March 31, 2012.
Information will be reported for Agency
operations and the Student Training Completion
Fund separately unless identified as a
consolidated report.
Management and the Board of Directors are
responsible for the financial statements and all
other information presented in the annual
report. The financial statements have been
prepared by management in accordance with
the Canadian public sector accounting (“PSA”)
standards as issued by the Public Sector
Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants and, where appropriate
include amounts based on management's best
estimates and judgment. This is the first year of
adoption of the Canadian public sector
accounting (“PSA”) standards. Management is
responsible for the integrity and objectivity of
these financial statements. The financial
information presented elsewhere in this annual
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To safeguard the Agency's assets and ensure
the reliability of financial information, the
Agency follows sound management practices
and procedures, and maintains appropriate
finance reporting systems and controls.
The Board of Directors ensures that
management fulfills its responsibilities for
financial information and internal controls. The
financial statements have been reviewed by the
Finance and Student Training Completion Fund
Committee and approved by the Board of
Directors at its Annual General Meeting on May
25th, 2012.
The financial statements have been examined
by BDO, the independent external audit firm of
Chartered Accountants appointed by the Board
of Directors. The external auditor’s
responsibility is to examine the financial
statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards to enable
them to express their opinion on whether the
financial statements are fairly presented in
accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting (“PSA”) standards as issued by the
Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants. The auditor's
report outlines the scope of the auditor's
examination and opinion.
Significant advances have been made in
streamlining financial reporting internally,
through the consolidation of two accounting
software programs and, externally, through a
move to online payment systems.
The three year forecast for PCTIA is based on
the assumptions the market for private career

training institutions will remain stable with
moderate growth. Management expects to
leverage investments made in technology
infrastructure to manage expenses.
FUNDING SOURCES
OPERATIONS
The Agency has been self-funded for the full
fiscal year. The fees payable by institutions to
the Agency are set out in Section 51. 2) of the
PCTIA Bylaws – Fees payable to the Agency.
For the purposes of assessing fees, the Agency
has established three classes of institutions.
1. Probationary institutions (registered
less than two years or not in good
standing within the last two years)
which are assessed the highest rate of
contribution,
2. Registered institutions which are
assessed a reduced rate of contribution
once they have been in good standing
with the Agency for minimum of two
years, and
3. Accredited institutions which are
assessed the lowest rate of contribution
when they are in good standing with
the Agency for a minimum of two years.
Institutions pay the Agency fixed annual fees
based on the previous year’s tuition received
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plus a percentage of current year’s tuition
received, assessed on a monthly basis. Other
fees include application fees for registration or
accreditation, registration workshop fees, new
registered program application fees and other
fees related to changes in the operations of
programs of the school.
The Agency also charges back to the institutions
costs associated with on-site accreditation
evaluation fees, and compliance and site visit
fees. Currently, the charge-backs do not cover
the cost of onsite visits.
STUDENT TRAINING COMPLETION FUND
Contributions to the Student Training
Completion Fund are set out under Part 2,
sections 4 and 5 of the Private Career Training
Institutions Regulation, effective November 22,
2004. An institution which has not previously
been registered under the Act must pay in to
the fund an initial contribution of $2000. An
institution must continue to make ongoing
monthly contributions based on the amount of
tuition received by the institution under each
student enrolment contract during the previous
month. The percentage assessed on tuition
received is based on the classification of the
institution as set out in the bylaws.
The Agency receives no additional funding from
any level of government.

PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY YEAR AGAINST BUDGET & YEAR
AGAINST PREVIOUS YEAR
PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Variance Current
Year to Budget
BUDGET
2012

For the year ended
Revenue
Accreditation fees
Registration fees
Other fees and miscellaneous revenue
STCF management fees and chargebacks
Investment revenue

March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

$

%

$ 1,704,000 $ 1,684,275 $ 1,677,980 $ (19,725)
548,000
562,703
569,828
14,703
36,000
27,755
39,004
(8,245)
411,000
374,221
359,496
(36,779)
15,000
9,998
6,319
(5,002)

Variance Current
Year to Prior Year
$

-1.2% $ 6,295
2.7%
(7,125)
-22.9% (11,249)
-8.9%
14,725
-33.3%
3,679

%
0.4%
-1.3%
-28.8%
4.1%
58.2%

2,714,000

2,658,952

2,652,627

(55,048)

-2.0%

6,325

0.2%

20,000
90,000
11,000
60,000
24,000
265,000
13,000
13,000
8,000
28,000
25,000
108,000
10,000
186,000
1,700,000
30,000
28,000
45,000
10,000
-

28,219
57,939
12,874
50,537
44,311
212,087
12,243
11,095
3,321
34,793
13,060
116,489
230
259,294
1,745,736
29,021
32,352
56,884
15,112
8,057

53,638
67,315
8,854
49,286
18,289
220,577
10,750
10,226
6,533
26,870
7,296
126,803
5,428
147,603
1,508,277
10,737
24,732
46,857
9,045
5,216

8,219
(32,061)
1,874
(9,463)
20,311
(52,913)
(757)
(1,905)
(4,679)
6,793
(11,940)
8,489
(9,770)
73,294
45,736
(979)
4,352
11,884
5,112
8,057

41.1%
-35.6%
17.0%
-15.8%
84.6%
-20.0%
-5.8%
-14.7%
-58.5%
24.3%
-47.8%
7.9%
-97.7%
39.4%
2.7%
-3.3%
15.5%
26.4%
51.1%
0.0%

(25,419)
(9,376)
4,020
1,251
26,022
(8,490)
1,493
869
(3,212)
7,923
5,764
(10,314)
(5,198)
111,691
237,459
18,284
7,620
10,027
6,067
2,841

-47.4%
-13.9%
45.4%
2.5%
142.3%
-3.8%
13.9%
8.5%
-49.2%
29.5%
79.0%
-8.1%
-95.8%
75.7%
15.7%
170.3%
30.8%
21.4%
67.1%
54.5%

2,674,000

2,743,654

2,364,332

69,654

2.6%

379,322

16.0%

Net gain from operations

40,000

(84,702)

288,295

(124,702)

-311.8% (372,997)

-129.4%

Gain on recapture of uncashed student refunds

15,000

14,973

28,006

(27)

316,301

(124,729)

Expenses
Advertising and recruiting
Amortization
Bank and payroll service charges
Board
Computer supplies and maintenance
Contract services
Courier and postage
Equipment lease and maintenance
Insurance
Office and supplies
Moving and miscellaneous expenses
Professional fees
Publications
Rent and parking
Salaries and benefits
Staff development and conferences
Telephone
Travel and meals
Workshops
Uncollectible accounts

Excess of revenues over expenses for the year

$

55,000 $

(69,729) $

-0.2%

(13,033)

-46.5%

-226.8% (386,030)

-122.0%

*PCTIA converted to PSAB for the 2011-2012 fiscal year and has adjusted 2010-2011 to PSAB requirements. 2009-2010 were
not adjusted to PSAB. 2009-2010 was the first year PCTIA reported as a Crown Corporation.
*The above financial information, including forecast information, was prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting (“PSA”) standards as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants.
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency – Capital Expenditures for the Year

Computer Equipment
Office Furniture
Tenant Improvements
Computer Software
Website Development
Total expenditures for the year

$

$

11,590
10,400
26,510
6,549
15,901
70,950

There were no major capital projects over $50 million.
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STUDENT TRAINING COMPLETION FUND YEAR AGAINST BUDGET & YEAR AGAINST
PREVIOUS YEAR
PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY
STUDENT TRAINING COMPLETION FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Variance Current
Year to Budget
BUDGET
2012

For the year ended

March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

$

%

Variance Current
Year to Prior Year
$

%

Revenue
STCF initial contribution
Tuition revenue fee payment
Recoveries from institutions of student
complaint tuition refunds
Investment revenue
Miscellaneous revenue

$

38,000 $
66,351 $
90,500 $ 28,351
1,210,000
1,196,579
1,287,972
(13,421)

74.6% $ (24,149)
-1.1% (91,393)
-65.1%
3.1%
-97.6%

-26.7%
-7.1%

100,000
357,000
5,000

34,872
367,975
118

124,913
303,686
434

(65,128)
10,975
(4,882)

(90,041)
64,289
(316)

-72.1%
21.2%
-72.8%

1,710,000

1,665,895

1,807,505

(44,105)

-2.6% (141,610)

-7.8%

5,000
32,000
336,000
18,000
15,000
300,000
60,000
100,000
25,000

649
33,170
336,000
9,334
16,298
13,512
459,088
15,375
34,872
36,815

3,080
415
30,637
309,000
19,882
10,412
197,913
40,084
124,913
111,941

(4,351)
1,170
9,334
(1,702)
(1,488)
159,088
(44,625)
(65,128)
11,815

0.0%
-87.0%
3.7%
0.0%
0.0%
-9.5%
-9.9%
53.0%
-74.4%
-65.1%
47.3%

(3,080)
234
2,533
27,000
9,334
(3,584)
3,100
261,175
(24,709)
(90,041)
(75,126)

-100.0%
56.3%
8.3%
8.7%
0.0%
-18.0%
29.8%
132.0%
-61.6%
-72.1%
-67.1%

891,000

955,113

848,277

64,113

7.2%

106,836

12.6%

819,000 $

710,782 $

959,228

(108,218)

-13.2% (248,446)

-25.9%

Expenses
Actuarial report
Bank charges and miscellaneous
Investment management fees
Management fees - PCTIA
Other admin expenses - PCTIA
Professional accounting/auditing fees
School closure costs - PCTIA
Student tuition claims from closures
Student complaint costs - PCTIA
Student complaint tuition refunds
Uncollectible accounts
Excess of revenues over expenses for the
year

$

* PCTIA converted to PSAB for the 2011-2012 fiscal year and has adjusted 2010-2011 to PSAB requirements. 2009-2010 were
not adjusted to PSAB. 2009-2010 was the first year PCTIA reported as a Crown Corporation.
*The above financial information, including forecast information, was prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting (“PSA”) standards as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants.
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PCTIA OPERATING VARIANCE DETAILS

Revenue:
Accreditation fees - the increase from previous
year is due to an increase in rates applied to %
of tuition fees. Accreditation fees are under
budget due to fewer on-site accreditation
audits than anticipated.
Registration fees – the decrease from previous
year is due to a reduction in the number of
registered institutions. The increase over
budget is due to the tuition received reported
by registered institutions remaining higher than
anticipated.
Other fees and miscellaneous revenue – the
decrease from prior year is due to not receiving
the miscellaneous wage replacement subsidy
that was received in prior year. The decrease
from budget is due to inspection and other
miscellaneous chargebacks being less than
anticipated.
STCF management fee and chargebacks – the
Increase from prior year is due to an increased
allocation of staff time relating to STCF. The
decrease from budget is due to no longer
contracting out complaint reviews and instead
hiring a new position of legal counsel to do
reviews.
Expenses:
Advertising and Recruiting – the decrease from
previous year is due to the completion of the
Registrar search. The increase from budget is
due to additional recruiting at the management
level.
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Amortization – the decrease from prior year is
due to a decrease in capital purchases over the
past two years and assets reaching the end of
their amortization period. The decrease from
budget is due to the actual cost of the new
website coming in much less than budgeted and
fewer capital purchases than budgeted.
Computer supplies/maintenance – the increase
from previous year and from budget is due to a
new service contract for outside technical
support.
Contract services – the decrease from prior
year and from budget is due to conducting
fewer accreditation on-site audits this year
compared to prior year and from the number
budgeted for. Another reason for being under
budget is a reduction in contracting out
complaint reviews as a result of hiring in house
legal counsel to do reviews.
Office supplies and expenses – the increase
from previous year and increase over budget is
due to increase in office supply purchases.
Moving and Miscellaneous – the increase from
prior year is due to relocating the office from
Burnaby to Vancouver in December 2011. The
decrease from budget is due to the actual move
costs being less than anticipated.
Professional fees – the decrease from prior year
is due to a decrease in external legal billings
resulting from hiring in-house legal counsel.
The increase over budget is due to special
consulting work relating to work on reviewing
financial viability of institutions.
Publications – the decrease from prior year and
decrease from budget is due to preparing
publications in-house and moving forward with
specific efforts to use green initiatives by

reducing the amount of paper based
publications.
Rent and parking – the increase from prior year
is due to an end to the special lease rate for the
Burnaby location and HST being in effect for the
full year (the Agency was exempt from paying
GST but is required to pay HST). The increase
over budget is due to the additional parking
cost for the new downtown location.
Note 13 in the audited financial statements
explains the amortization of the free rent period
which resulted in a non-cash increase in rent
expense.
Salaries and benefits – The increase from prior
year is due to a re-organization in order to fulfill
the Agency’s mandate. This included some restructuring of staff positions, adding FTE’s,
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hiring legal counsel rather than contracting out,
and salary increases. The increase over budget
is due to this re-organization.
Staff development and conferences – the
increase from prior year is due to the
heightened value being placed on the
professional development of staff.
Travel – the increase from prior year is due to
increased travel for institution visits and various
offsite meetings.
Telephone – the increase from prior year is due
to the additional staffing and resulting
additional phone lines and cell phones.
Workshops – the increase from prior year and
increase over budget is due to bylaw review
workshop sessions held in 2011-12.

PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY – 3 YEAR OPERATING FORECAST 20122015

PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY
FORECAST 2012-2015
FORECAST
2012/13

FORECAST
2013/14

FORECAST
2014/15

Revenue
Fees from Accredited Institutions
Fees from Registered Institutions
Total Revenue from Institutions
Management Fees
Other
Total Revenue

1,704,000
548,000
2,252,000
411,000
35,000
2,698,000

1,730,000
556,000
2,286,000
417,000
40,000
2,743,000

1,773,000
570,000
2,343,000
428,000
49,000
2,820,000

Expenses
Operations & Administration
Amortization
Total Expenses
Net income (loss)
Net Assets at End of Year

2,628,000
70,000
2,698,000
$0
$652,426

2,663,000
80,000
2,743,000
$0
$652,426

2,730,000
90,000
2,820,000
$0
$652,426
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PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY – 3 YEAR CAPITAL FORECAST

PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY
FORECAST 2012-2015
FORECAST
2012/13
Capital Expenditures

$

FORECAST
2013/14

90,000 $

FORECAST
2014/15

40,000 $

20,000

STUDENT TRAINING COMPLETION FUND – 3 YEAR FORECAST

PRIVATE CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AGENCY
STUDENT TRAINING COMPLETION FUND
FORECAST 2012-2015

Revenue
Expenses
Net Income (loss)
Net Assets at End of Year

FORECAST
2012/13

FORECAST
2013/14

FORECAST
2014/15

1,680,000
915,000
765,000
13,168,566

1,725,000
945,000
780,000
13,948,566

1,768,000
969,000
799,000
14,747,566
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INFORMATION ON SUBSIDIARIES
PCTIA has no subsidiaries
CONTACT INFORMATION
For information on this report or other elements of the Private Career Training Institutions Agency
contact:
Wai Leong, Executive Assistant
wleong@pctia.bc.ca
604-569-3918
Karin Kirkpatrick, Registrar and CEO
registrar@pctia.bc.ca
604-569-0033
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Financial Statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Financial Statements
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Tel: 604 688 5421
Fax: 604 688 5132
vancouver@bdo.ca
www.bdo.ca

BDO Canada LLP
600 Cathedral Place
925 West Georgia Street
Vancouver BC V6C 3L2 Canada

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of the
Private Career Training Institutions Agency
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Private Career Training Institutions
Agency, which comprise the Statements of Financial Position as at March 31, 2012, March 31,
2011, and April 1, 2010 and the Statements of Operations, Changes in Net Financial Assets,
Changes in Accumulated Operating Surplus, Remeasurement Gains and Losses and Cash Flows for
the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Private Career Training Institutions Agency as at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and
April 1, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended March
31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia
May 25, 2012
BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by
guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Statement of Financial Position

March 31
2012

March 31
2011

April 1
2010

Financial Assets
Cash (Note 5)
Accounts receivable (Note 15)
Portfolio Investments (Note 6)

$ 207,953
28,515
619,006

$ 150,774
49,451
703,867

$ 375,758
18,388
159,627

855,474

904,092

553,773

219,223
75,156
64,936

251,888
69,147
-

274,452
68,444
-

359,315

321,035

342,896

496,159

583,057

210,877

63,491
28,226

50,478
18,891

97,443
12,320

91,717

69,369

109,763

$ 587,876

$ 652,426

$ 320,640

$ 632,919
(45,043)

$ 702,648
(50,222)

$ 386,347
(65,707)

$ 587,876

$ 652,426

$ 320,640

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8)
Deferred revenue
Deferred Lease Inducement (Note 13)

Net Financial Assets
Non-Financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 7)
Prepaid expenses

Accumulated Surplus (Note 14)

Accumulated surplus is comprised of:
Accumulated operating surplus
Accumulated remeasurement losses

Approved on behalf of the Board:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31a

Revenue
Accreditation fees
Registration fees
Other fees and miscellaneous revenue
Management fees and chargebacks (Note 15)
Investment revenue

Budget

2012

$ 1,704,000
548,000
36,000
411,000
15,000

$ 1,684,275
562,703
27,755
374,221
9,998

Expenses
Advertising and recruiting
Amortization
Bank and payroll service charges
Board
Computer supplies and maintenance
Contract Services
Courier and postage
Equipment lease and maintenance
Insurance
Office and supplies
Professional fees
Publications
Rent
Salaries and benefits
Staff development and conferences
Telephone and fax
Travel and meals
Uncollectible accounts
Workshops

2011

$

1,677,980
569,828
39,004
359,496
6,319

2,714,000

2,658,952

2,652,627

20,000
90,000
11,000
60,000
24,000
265,000
13,000
13,000
8,000
53,000
108,000
10,000
186,000
1,700,000
30,000
28,000
45,000
10,000

28,219
57,939
12,874
50,537
44,311
212,087
12,243
11,095
3,321
47,853
116,489
230
259,294
1,745,736
29,021
32,352
56,884
8,057
15,112

53,638
67,315
8,854
49,286
18,289
220,577
10,750
10,226
6,533
34,166
126,803
5,428
147,603
1,508,277
10,737
24,732
46,857
5,216
9,045

2,674,000

2,743,654

2,364,332

Net gain from operations

40,000

(84,702)

288,295

Gain on recapture of uncashed student
refunds (Note 11)

15,000

14,973

28,006

Excess of revenues (expenses) over expenses/
revenue for the year

$

55,000

$

(69,729) $

316,301

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

For the year ended March 31a

Budget

Annual surplus (deficit)

2012

2011

55,000 $

(69,729) $

316,301

90,000

(70,952)
57,939

(20,351)
67,315

90,000

(13,013)

46,964

-

(28,226)
18,891

(18,890)
12,320

-

(9,335)

(6,570)

Decrease (increase) in net financial assets
Effect of remeasurement gains for the year

145,000
-

(92,077)
5,179

356,695
15,485

Net financial assets, beginning of year

583,057

583,057

210,877

728,057 $

496,159

$

Acquisition of tangible capital asset
Amortization of tangible capital assets

Acquisition of prepaid expenses
Consumption of prepaid expenses

Net financial assets, end of year

$

$

583,057

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Statement of Changes in Accumulated Operating Surplus

For the year ended March 31a

2012

Accumulated operating surplus, beginning of year

$

702,648

2011

$

(69,729)

Operating surplus (deficit) for the year
Accumulated operating surplus, end of year

$

632,919

386,347
316,301

$

702,648

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses

For the year ended March 31a

2012

Accumulated remeasurement gains (losses), beginning of year

$

(50,222) $

Unrealized gains (losses) attributable to portfolio investments
Amounts reclassified to statement of operations:
Realized loss on portfolio investments

5,506

Net remeasurement gains (losses) for the year

5,179

Accumulated remeasurement gains (losses), end of year

(327)

$

(45,043) $

2011

(65,707)

15,911
(426)
15,485
(50,222)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31

2012

2011

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year
Item not involving cash
Amortization
Lease inducement

$

(69,729) $

316,301

57,939
64,936

67,315
-

53,146

383,616

20,936
(9,335)
(22,782)
5,093
(14,973)
6,009

(31,063)
(6,571)
23,912
(18,467)
(28,006)
703

38,094

324,124

(70,952)

(20,351)

Investing activity
Decrease (Increase) of portfolio investments

90,037

(528,757)

Increase (decrease) in cash during the year

57,179

(224,984)

150,774

375,758

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
STCF fee revenue payable
Unclaimed PPSEC payments to students
Deferred registration and accreditation fee revenue

Capital activity
Purchase of tangible capital assets

Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

$

207,953

$

150,774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2012

1.

Nature of Operations
The Private Career Training Institutions Agency (the "Agency") was incorporated under the
Private Career Training Institutions Act on November 22, 2004. It is a continuation of the
Private Post-Secondary Education Commission (the "Commission"). All assets and liabilities
of the Commission were transferred to the Agency at book values.
The Agency is a self-funding Crown Agency whose mandate as set out in the Act is as
follows:

2.

x

to establish basic education standards for registered institutions and to provide
consumer protection to the students and prospective students of registered
institutions;

x

to establish standards of quality that must be met by accredited institutions; and

x

to carry out, in the public interest, its powers, duties, and functions under this Act,
the regulations and the Bylaws.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

These financial statements are prepared by management in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Board.

Conversion to Public
Sector Accounting
Standards
Commencing with the 2012 fiscal year, the Agency has adopted
Canadian public sector accounting ("PSA") standards as issued by the
Public Sector Accounting Board. These financial statements are the
first financial statements for which the Agency has applied PSA
standards. The Agency has early adopted the accounting standards
contained in PS 1201 - Financial statement presentation, PS 3410 Government transfers, PS 2601 - Foreign currency translation and PS
3450 - Financial instruments in the preparation of these financial
statements.
Detailed information on the impact of the conversion to Canadian
public sector accounting standards is provided in Note 16.
Revenue

Registration and accreditation fees are recognized when estimable.
The portion of registration and accreditation fees that relate to the
period following the Agency's year end have been reflected on the
statement of financial position as deferred revenue.
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2012

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Tangible Capital
Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost with amortization
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as
follows:
Computer equipment
Computer software
Office furniture
Tenant improvements
lease

Financial
Instruments

-

over 3 years
over 2 years
over 5 years
straight line basis over term of the

Derivatives and equity instruments quoted in an active market are
measured at fair value. The Agency has elected to measure other
specific financial instruments at fair value, to correspond with how
they are evaluated and managed. These financial instruments are
identified by financial asset and financial liability classification and
are not reclassified for the duration of the period they are held. All
other financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at cost
or amortized cost. Financial instruments are classified as level 1, 2
or 3 for the purposes of describing the basis of the inputs used to
measure the fair values of financial instruments in the fair value
measurement category, as described below:
Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Market-based inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data; assumptions are based on the
best internal and external information available and are
most suitable and appropriate based on the type of
financial instrument being valued in order to establish
what the transaction price would have been on the
measurement date in an arm's length transaction.

The Agency's financial instruments consists of cash, portfolio
investments,
accounts receivable, and accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's
opinion that the Agency is not exposed to any significant interest,
currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2012

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial
Instruments
(Continued)

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of
financial instruments are recognized in the statement of
remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement
gains and losses and recognized in the statement of operations.
Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are
reported in the statement of operations.
All financial assets except derivatives are tested annually for
impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses
are recorded in the statement of operations. A write-down of a
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a
subsequent increase in value.
For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the
effective interest rate method is used to determine interest revenue
or expense.
Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments
measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are
expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value

Measurement
Uncertainty

3.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the year then ended. The
actual outcome could differ from the estimates made in the
preparation of the financial statements. Amounts subject to the
greatest degree of estimation are unclaimed PPSEC payments to
students (Note 9) and the value of Asset Backed Commercial Paper
(Note 6).

Income and Capital Taxes
The Agency is exempt from federal and provincial income and capital taxes under Section
149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act.
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2012

4.

Reliance on Participating Institutions' Data
Prior to June 1st, 2009 the regulations of the Agency obligated registered institutions to
make payments to the Fund based on a percentage of tuition fees charged to students.
Effective June 1st, 2009 the regulations and the bylaws of the Agency obligate registered
institutions to make monthly payments to the Fund and the Agency on the basis of a fixed
annual fee based on the institutions' prior fiscal year tuition revenue and by a sum equal to
a percentage of the tuition received each month during the current fiscal year. The
payment rates to the Fund are established by the Regulations to the Private Career Training
Institutions Act. The fixed annual fee and the payment rates to the Agency are established
by the bylaws of the Agency. Such information is cross referenced to Institutions' financial
statements and annual enrolment reporting received by the Agency. Payments are
recorded based on information from the participating institutions.

5.

Cash Concentration
The Agency has one bank account at a chartered bank.

6.

Portfolio Investments

Fair value
hierarchy level
Canadian short-term fixed
income
Global equity
Term deposit
Subtotal
Canadian asset-backed
commercial paper

March 31
2012

Level 1 $
Level 1
Level 1

Level 2
$

16,099
131,989
432,000

March 31
2011

$

14,096
125,995
525,483

April 1
2010

$

11,919
111,677
-

580,088

665,574

123,596

38,918

38,293

36,031

619,006

$

703,867

$

159,627

The term deposit earns interest at 1.00% and matures December 23, 2012.
The Canadian market for third-party sponsored Asset Backed Commercial Paper ("ABCP")
suffered a liquidity disruption in mid-August 2007. The ABCP was subject to a court
supervised restructuring process that has resulted in the pooled assets being replaced by
asset-backed long-term notes. The market for the long-term notes has been of generally
low volume to date.
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6.

Portfolio Investments (Continued)
The Agency's management has estimated the fair value of these assets using a valuation
model provided by the external investment advisors which includes consideration of a
guarantee provided by the investment advisors and arm's length sales of ABCP near year end
by the Agency.
The estimate of the fair value of the Agency's ABCP investments as at March 31, 2012 is
subject to significant uncertainty. While management believes that its valuation technique
is appropriate in the circumstances, changes in significant assumptions could affect the
value of ABCP securities in the future. Given the limited amount involved, no material
adverse impact to the Agency is foreseen.

7.

Tangible Capital Assets

Accumulated
Cost Amortization
Computer equipment $ 102,082
Office furniture
86,045
Tenant improvements
26,510
Computer software
76,905
$ 291,542

$

March 31
2012

March 31
2011

April 1
2010

Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value

91,804 $
73,182
1,360
61,705

10,278
12,863
25,150
15,200

$

11,567
14,522
19,554
4,835

$

17,022
21,972
39,107
19,342

$ 228,051 $

63,491

$

50,478

$

97,443
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8.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
March 31
2012
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
STCF fee revenue payable
Unclaimed PPSEC payments to students

9.

March 31
2011

April 1
2010

$

116,304
102,919
-

$

139,090
97,825
14,973

$

115,181
116,292
42,979

$

219,223

$

251,888

$

274,452

Unclaimed PPSEC Payments to Students
Unclaimed PPSEC payments to students include payments that remain outstanding for
claims made against the financial securities posted by institutions for training not delivered.
In the current year, the Agency has set aside $nil (2011 - $14,973 and 2010 - $42,979) in
order to satisfy these claims.

10. Contingent Liability
As at March 31, 2012, certain legal actions are pending against the Agency and Fund Trust,
the outcome of which cannot be determined at this time. For those actions where it is not
possible to determine the outcome of these proceedings, no provision for any potential
liability has been recorded in the accounts. Any settlements will be recorded when they can
be estimated.

11. Gain on Recapture of Uncashed Student Refunds
Student refunds that are not claimed are held as a liability for 7 years while the Agency
makes attempt to contact the student. If the student cannot be located, after 7 years the
amount is brought into the Agency's income.
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12. Security Requirements
Many institutions applying for registration with the former Commission were to provide
financial security in conjunction with their application. Security requirements were met by
way of investment and surety bonds, letters of credit or cash. As of March 31, 2012 the
following requirements were held in trust by the Agency and are not reported elsewhere in
these financial statements:
Cash

$

40,387

The Agency no longer requires financial security in conjunction with applications but has
balances remaining as it is still involved in the transition from the Private Post-Secondary
Education Commission.

13. Commitments
The Agency leases premises under a 6-year, 6-month lease for office space at Suite 203,
1155 West Pender Street, Vancouver expiring May 31, 2018.
Under the terms of the lease, remaining basic rent is $144,981 annually until the expiry
date of May 31, 2018. The aggregate of basic rent over the remaining term of the lease is
$894,047. In addition to basic rent, the Agency is required to pay a portion of certain
operating costs and property taxes.
Also under the terms of the lease, the Agency received free rent for December 2011, and
January, February and March of 2012. This free rent was recorded as a deferred lease
inducement, which is a non-cash item and is being amortized over the term of the lease.
The Agency is also obligated under operating leases for a copier, phone system and postage
meters that expire in 2013 to 2017.
The Agency is committed to annual payments for all leases for future years as follows:
Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter

Amount
$

158,464
156,939
156,939
156,939
149,565
169,144

$

947,990

14. Capital Disclosures
The Agency's objectives, when managing its capital, are to safeguard its ability to continue
as a going concern so it can continue to provide services to students. Annual budgets are
developed and monitored to ensure the Agency's capital is maintained at an appropriate
level.
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15. Student Training Completion Fund Trust
The Agency established the Student Training Completion Fund Trust (the "Fund Trust") for
the sole purpose of helping carry out its mandate. The Agency administers the Fund Trust in
exchange for annual management fees of $336,000 (2011 - $309,000), which is set out by
the Board of Directors of the Agency.
As at March 31, 2012 an amount of $102,919 (2011 - $97,825) was owed by the Agency to
the Fund Trust and is included in STCF Fee revenue payable. At March 31, 2012, the Fund
Trust owed the Agency $11,019 (2011 - $25,551) and was included in accounts receivable.
The Fund Trust prepares separate financial statements and no Fund Trust assets, liabilities
or transactions have been reported elsewhere in these financial statements.
The following summarizes the financial position of the Fund Trust and its operations for its
fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 (with comparative figures provided as at March 31, 2011
and April 1, 2010):

March 31
2012
Assets
Cash and portfolio investments
Accounts receivable

March 31
2011

April 1
2010

$12,494,276
122,672

$ 11,712,346
150,198

$ 10,497,251
246,310

$12,616,948

$ 11,862,544

$ 10,743,561

$

$

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

111,028

277,978

322,035

Accumulated Surplus

$12,505,920

Accumulated surplus is comprised of:
Accumulated operating surplus
Accumulated remeasurement gains/(losses)

$12,785,903 $ 12,075,121 $ 11,115,893
(279,983)
(490,555)
(694,367)
$12,505,920
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15. Student Training Completion Fund Trust (Continued)
Year Ended
March 31
2012
Revenues
STCF initial contribution
Tuition revenue fee payments
Recoveries from institutions of student
complaint tuition refunds
Investment and miscellaneous revenue

$

Expenses
Student tuition claims
Student complaint tuition refunds
Administrative expenses

Excess of revenue over expenses for year

$

66,351
1,196,579

Year Ended
March 31
2011
$

90,500
1,287,972

34,872
368,092

124,913
304,120

1,665,894

1,807,505

459,088
15,375
480,649

197,913
40,084
610,280

955,112

848,277

710,782

$

959,228

16. Conversion to Public Sector Accounting Standards
Commencing with the 2012 fiscal year, the Agency has adopted Canadian public sector
accounting ("PSA") standards. The transition date for the new standards was April 1, 2010
with the result that all comparative figures presented throughout these financial statements
are prepared following the requirement of the new standards.
The impact of the change to the new standards was generally to presentation only.
Net assets, previously reported, April 1, 2010

$

320,640

Accumulated surplus from operations, April 1, 2010
Accumulated remeasurement gains (losses), April 1, 2010

$

386,347
(65,707)

$

320,640
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.

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of the
Private Career Training Institutions Agency
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Private Career Training Institutions
Agency - Student Training Completion Fund Trust, which comprise the Statements of Financial
Position as at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011, and April 1, 2010 and the Statements of
Operations, Changes in Accumulated Operating Surplus, Remeasurement Gains and Losses and
Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Private Career Training Institutions Agency - Student Training Completion Fund Trust as
at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia
May 25, 2012
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Private Career Training Institutions Agency Student Training Completion Fund Trust
Statement of Financial Position

March 31
2012

March 31
2011

April 1
2010

Assets
$

Cash (Note 5)
Accounts receivable (Note 7)
Portfolio Investments (Note 6)

338,062
122,672
12,156,214

$

251,190
150,198
11,461,156

$

198,157
246,310
10,299,094

12,616,948

11,862,544

10,743,561

111,028

277,978

322,035

Accumulated Surplus (Note 12 and 13)

$12,505,920

$11,584,566

$10,421,526

Accumulated surplus is comprised of:
Accumulated operating surplus
Accumulated remeasurement gains/(losses)

$12,785,903
(279,983)

$12,075,121
(490,555)

$11,115,893
(694,367)

$12,505,920

$11,584,566

$10,421,526

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9)

Approved on behalf of the Board:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Budget

Revenue
STCF Initial Contribution
Tuition Revenue Fee Payment (Note 4)
Recoveries from institutions of student
complaint tuition refunds
Investment revenue (Note 6)
Miscellaneous revenue

$

Expenses
Actuarial Report
Bank charges
Investment management fee
Management fees (Note 7)
Miscellaneous expenses
Professional fees
School closure costs
Student tuition claims
Student complaint tuition refunds
Student complaint costs
Uncollectable Accounts

Excess of revenues over
expenses for the year

$

38,000
1,210,000

2012

$

66,351
1,196,579

2011

$

90,500
1,287,972

100,000
357,000
5,000

34,872
367,974
118

124,913
303,686
434

1,710,000

1,665,894

1,807,505

5,000
32,000
336,000
18,000
15,000
300,000
60,000
100,000
25,000

648
33,170
336,000
9,334
16,298
13,512
459,088
15,375
34,872
36,815

3,080
415
30,637
309,000
19,882
10,412
197,913
40,084
124,913
111,941

891,000

955,112

848,277

819,000

$

710,782

$

959,228

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
Page 67 of 77

Private Career Training Institutions Agency Student Training Completion Fund Trust
Statement of Changes in Accumulated Operating Surplus

For the year ended March 31a

2012

Accumulated operating surplus, beginning of year
Operating surplus (deficit) for the year
Accumulated operating surplus, end of year

2011

$12,075,121

$ 11,115,893

710,782

959,228

$12,785,903

$ 12,075,121

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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For the year ended March 31a

2012

Accumulated remeasurement losses, beginning of year

$

(490,555) $

2011

(694,367)

Unrealized gains (losses) attributable to portfolio investments
Amounts reclassified to statement of operations:
Realized gain on portfolio investments

237,983

205,941

27,411

2,129

Net remeasurement gains for the year

210,572

203,812

Accumulated remeasurement losses, end of year

$

(279,983) $

(490,555)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Operations

2012

Purposes

2011

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

$

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

710,782

$

27,527
(166,950)

96,112
(44,059)

571,359
Investing activity
Increase in portfolio investments
Increase (decrease) in cash during the year
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

$

959,228

1,011,281

(484,487)

(958,248)

86,872

53,033

251,190

198,157

338,062

$

251,190

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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1.

Nature of Operations
The Private Career Training Institutions Agency - Student Training Completion Fund Trust
(the "Fund Trust") was established under section 13 of the Private Career Training
Institutions Act on November 22, 2004.
The Fund Trust is administered by the Private Career Training Institutions Agency (the
"Agency"), a self-funding agent of the Province of British Columbia. Separate financial
statements are available that report on the activities of the Agency.
The Fund Trust is administered as part of the Agency's mandatory registration system and
voluntary accreditation program for private post-secondary educational institutions in the
Province of British Columbia. Specifically, it is the mechanism by which students attending
registered institutions that cease to operate may make claims in order to recover lost
tuition.
Monies placed into the Fund Trust or received by the Agency for the Fund Trust must be:
(a) held in trust by the Agency for the purposes listed in Section 15 of the Private
Career Training Institutions Act;
(b) accounted for separately from other money of the Agency;
(c) is not subject to any process of seizure or attachment by any creditor of the
Agency.
New Bylaw provisions were implemented in 2009, as a result of changes to the Private
Career Training Institutions Act and Regulations. The Board may authorize a refund of a
portion of the tuition fees a student has paid to a registered institution that, in the opinion
of the board, has misled a student regarding its institution or any aspect of its operations.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

These financial statements are prepared by management in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Board.
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2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Conversion to Public
Sector Accounting
Standards

Commencing with the 2012 fiscal year, the Fund Trust has adopted
Canadian public sector accounting ("PSA") standards as issued by the
Public Sector Accounting Board. These financial statements are the
first financial statements for which the Agency has applied PSA
standards. The Agency has early adopted the accounting standards
contained in PS 1201 - Financial statement presentation, PS 3410 Government transfers, PS 2601 - Foreign currency translation and PS
3450 - Financial instruments in the preparation of these financial
statements.
Detailed information on the impact of the conversion to Canadian
public sector accounting standards is provided in Note 13.

Revenue

STCF Initial Contribution is recognized upon registration.
Monthly Tuition Revenue Fee Payments are recognized when
estimable.
Recoveries from Institutions of student complaint tuition refunds
are recognized when approved by the Board.

Expenses
Financial
Instruments

Student Tuition Claims are recognized when approved by the Board.

Derivatives and equity instruments quoted in an active market are
measured at fair value. The Agency has elected to measure other
specific financial instruments at fair value, to correspond with how
they are evaluated and managed. These financial instruments are
identified by financial asset and financial liability classification and
are not reclassified for the duration of the period they are held. All
other financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at cost
or amortized cost. Financial instruments are classified as level 1, 2
or 3 for the purposes of describing the basis of the inputs used to
measure the fair values of financial instruments in the fair value
measurement category, as described below:
Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Market-based inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly.
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2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial Instrument
(Continued)
Level 3

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data; assumptions are based on the
best internal and external information available and are
most suitable and appropriate based on the type of
financial instrument being valued in order to establish
what the transaction price would have been on the
measurement date in an arm's length transaction.

The Agency's financial instruments consists of cash, portfolio
investments,
accounts receivable, and accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's
opinion that the Agency is not exposed to any significant interest,
currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.
Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of
financial instruments are recognized in the statement of
remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement
gains and losses and recognized in the statement of operations.
Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are
reported in the statement of operations.
All financial assets except derivatives are tested annually for
impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses
are recorded in the statement of operations. A write-down of a
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a
subsequent increase in value.
For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the
effective interest rate method is used to determine interest revenue
or expense.
Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments
measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are
expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value
Measurement
Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the year then ended.
Amounts subject to the greatest degree of estimation are STCF
contributions payable (Note 9) and the value of Asset Backed
Commercial Paper (Note 6).
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2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Measurement
Uncertainty
(Continued)

3.

Estimates are based on the best information available at the time of
preparation of the financial statements and are reviewed annually
to reflect new information as it becomes available. Measurement
uncertainty exists in these financial statements. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Income and Capital Taxes
The Fund Trust, by virtue of the Agency, is exempt from federal and provincial income
taxes under Section 149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act.

4.

Reliance on Participating Institutions' Data
The regulations of the Agency obligate registered institutions to make payments to the Fund
Trust based on a percentage of tuition fees received. The payment rates are established by
the Regulations to the Private Career Training Institutions Act. Such information is cross
referenced to Institutions' financial statements and annual enrolment reporting received by
the Agency.
Payments are recorded based on information from the participating
institutions.

5.

Cash Concentration
The Fund Trust has one operating bank account at a chartered bank.
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6.

Portfolio Investments
Fair value
hierarchy level
Canadian short-term fixed
income
Canadian fixed income
Global equity
Global fixed income

Canadian asset-backed
commercial paper

March 31
2012

Level 1 $ 1,485,333
Level 1
6,121,955
Level 1
1,607,589
Level 1
2,448,002

March 31
2011

$

667,468
6,575,766
1,534,603
2,197,911

April 1
2010

$

807,667
5,728,674
1,360,208
1,945,808

11,662,879

10,975,748

9,842,357

493,335

485,408

456,737

$12,156,214

$ 11,461,156

$ 10,299,094

Level 2

The Canadian market for third-party sponsored Asset Backed Commercial Paper ("ABCP")
suffered a liquidity disruption in mid-August 2007. The ABCP was subject to a court
supervised restructuring process that has resulted in the pooled assets being replaced by
asset-backed long-term notes. The market for the long-term notes has been of generally
low volume to date.
The Fund Trust's management has estimated the fair value of these assets using a valuation
model provided by the external investment advisors which includes consideration of a
guarantee provided by the investment advisors and arm's length sales of ABCP near year end
by the Fund Trust.
The estimate of the fair value of the Fund Trust's ABCP investments as at March 31, 2012 is
subject to significant uncertainty. While management believes that its valuation technique
is appropriate in the circumstances, changes in significant assumptions could affect the
value of ABCP securities in the future. Given the limited amount involved, no material
adverse impact to the Fund Trust is foreseen.
The investment accounts are at two financial institutions. Interest rates on Guaranteed
Investment Certificates range from 1.72% to 2.20%.

7.

Fund Administration and Related Party Transactions
In administering the Fund Trust, the Agency may invest the Fund Trust only in the manner
authorized by the Trustee Act.
The Fund Trust pays the Agency an annual management fee of $336,000 (2011 - $309,000) in
exchange for administering the Fund Trust. The Agency's Board sets the amount at which
the fee will be charged. As at March 31, 2012, an amount of $102,919 (2011 - $97,825)
owed by the Agency and reported as PCTIA collections receivable. At March 31, 2012, the
Fund owed the Agency $11,019 (2011 - $25,551) and was included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities.
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8.

Payments from the Fund - School Closures
Since the Fund Trust was established in November 2004, there have been 35 institution
closures that resulted in student tuition claims. The Fund Trust has authorized payments on
account of students in the amount of $2,426,266 to March 31, 2012.

9.

Accounts Payable
March 31
2012
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Student claims payable
Student complaint refunds payable
STCF contributions payable

March 31
2011

April 1
2010

$

36,760
54,938
10,134
9,196

$

52,780
129,383
67,326
28,489

$

37,602
104,436
32,719
147,278

$

111,028

$

277,978

$

322,035

10. Economic Dependence
As the Fund Trust was established solely for the purpose of carrying out the mandate of the
Agency, its ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the continuation of the
Agency.

11. Contingent Liability
As at March 31, 2012, certain legal actions are pending against the Fund Trust, the outcome
of which cannot be determined at this time. For those actions where it is not possible to
determine the outcome of these proceedings, no provision for any potential liability has
been recorded in the accounts.

12. Capital Disclosures
The Fund Trust's objectives, when managing its capital, are to safeguard its ability to
continue as a going concern so it can continue to provide services to students. Annual
budgets are developed and monitored to ensure the Agency's capital is maintained at
an appropriate level.
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13. Conversion to Public Sector Accounting Standards
Commencing with the 2012 fiscal year, the Fund Trust has adopted Canadian public sector
accounting ("PSA") standards. The transition date for the new standards was April 1, 2010
with result that all comparative figures presented throughout these financial statements are
prepared following the requirement of the new standards.
The impact of the change to the new standards was generally to presentation only.
Net assets, previously reported, April 1, 2010

$ 10,421,526

Accumulated surplus from operations, April 1, 2010
Accumulated remeasurement gains/losses, April 1, 2010

$ 11,115,893
(694,367)
$ 10,421,526

Page 77 of 77

